Filed Washington State Supreme Court FEB 2 6 2016 Ŀ Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk P514 92 SUPREME COURT NO. 3/2/14 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 72102-0-I

FILED Feb 02, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

#### Petitioner,

v.

ALAN J. SINCLAIR II,

Respondent.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

#### B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does the court of appeals decision in this case undermine the Washington Legislature's authorization of costs on appeal, and conflict with this Court's decisions interpreting the appellate costs statute, and conflict with the relevant rules of appellate procedure, where the court denied appellate costs in its decision terminating review without facts in the record to determine whether the non-prevailing party could pay costs in the future, and where extra-record facts – which would be available to a trial court in a motion to remit costs, but were not available in the appellate record – plainly show that the defendant has significant assets?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. CRIME, TRIAL AND APPEAL.

Alan Sinclair had sexual contact with his granddaughter beginning when she was 11 or 12 years old. His crimes came to light after he

inadvertently pocket-dialed the victim's mother when he was speaking to the victim, and the call was recorded on the mother's voicemail system. Police recovered incriminating photographs and video recordings of Sinclair with the victim. Br. of Resp. at 2-7.

At trial, Sinclair did not contest the fact that he had committed child molestation, child rape, or communication with a minor for immoral purposes; rather, he argued that he did not have sexual intercourse with his granddaughter until she was 14 years old, so he was guilty of a lesser degree of child rape. 11 RP 253. The trial court described the State's evidence as "overwhelming." 11 RP at 321. He was convicted by a jury of two counts of second degree rape of a child, two counts of third degree child molestation, and a count of communication with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 103-07.

On appeal, Sinclair did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to prove his guilt. Rather, he argued that the recording of his pocket-dialed telephone call should have been suppressed. The court of appeals affirmed Sinclair's convictions because suppression of the recording would not have changed the result of the case. The victim's testimony, the photographs, the video recordings, and Sinclair's admissions at trial were overwhelming evidence of guilt. <u>Sinclair</u>, at 3-4.

After the decision terminating review was filed, the State submitted a cost bill of \$6,983.19, listing the usual categories of expense that may be ordered as costs on appeal. Sinclair filed a 17-page objection to that cost bill. He also filed that same day a motion for reconsideration of the decision terminating review, asking the court of appeals to "reconsider" the imposition of costs on appeal, even though neither he nor the State had addressed costs in the substantive briefing, and even though there was very little information in the appellate record regarding Sinclair's assets. The court of appeals directed the State to respond to the motion for reconsideration, but not the Objection to Cost Bill.<sup>1</sup> The primary issue raised in the motion for reconsideration was whether the appellate court should determine costs in its decision terminating review, or whether it should instead follow the procedure set forth in the rules on appeal that direct the court to consider such matters post-decision.

The State filed an answer to the motion for reconsideration on January 15, 2016. The State urged the court of appeals to follow precedent from this Court holding that a party's ability to pay need not be determined until efforts are made to punish a failure to pay. The State also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Objection to Cost Bill raised numerous arguments not contained in the Motion for Reconsideration. Because the Rules on Appeal do not authorize a reply to such an objection, <u>see</u> RAP 14.4 et seq., the State simply noted that those arguments were foreclosed by Washington State Supreme Court precedent, and offered to respond to those arguments if so directed. The court deferred ruling on the Objection to Cost Bill. <u>Sinclair</u>, at 6.

noted that Sinclair's ability to pay in the future was unknowable since the appellate record did not hold information about his assets or current financial situation. The State noted, however, that Sinclair likely had assets, as the presentence report filed by his lawyer showed as follows:

In 1986, the family moved to Bellevue, Washington, when Mr. Sinclair was offered a job with Boeing. He worked as a project manager for communications projects, which involved designing and installing information technology infrastructure for Boeing properties. His job required extensive travel, as he managed projects around the United States, Asia, and Europe. Mr. Sinclair enjoyed his work, as it was constantly challenging and never stagnant.

CP 140. This information certainly suggests Sinclair had a decades-long career in a lucrative position for a leading employer in this state, and that he likely had a pension. The verbatim report of proceedings also shows that the defendant owned a recreational vehicle (RV) and a Dodge Ram Pickup truck. See, e.g., 8 RP 5/13/14 at 48 (RV), 84 (truck).<sup>2</sup> The record contains very few other details about the defendant's assets because, of course, his net worth was not an issue at trial.

On January 27, 2016, the court of appeals granted reconsideration and filed a new decision, published this time, forbidding the State from collecting appellate costs from Sinclair. <u>Sinclair</u>, at 6-14. The court of appeals presumed that because an order of indigency had been filed when

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  The vehicles were relevant at trial because testimony established that Sinclair abused his victim in both of these vehicles.

the appeal was initiated, Sinclair would not be able to pay anything in the future to defray costs. <u>Id.</u> at 13-14. Moreover, the court refused to acknowledge that the presumption of indigency might be incorrect, arguing that the appellate record showed that Sinclair's financial position had not changed since sentencing, even though the appellate record necessarily does not include information gathered after sentencing. <u>Id.</u>

2. FACTS SHOWING SINCLAIR'S ABILITY TO PAY COSTS THAT WOULD BE AVAILABLE TO THE TRIAL COURT BUT THAT ARE NOT AVAILABLE TO THE APPELLATE COURT.

As noted above, the State urged the court of appeals to leave further inquiry about Sinclair's assets to the trial court, because that court can gather facts regarding a defendant's *present* ability to pay. The rules of appellate procedure limit the record on review to a report of proceedings, clerk's papers, and exhibits. RAP 9.1. Additional evidence may be taken only as to the "merits" of the case, and only under strictly circumscribed conditions. RAP 9.11. For these reasons, the State could not within the existing rules illustrate to the court of appeals that Sinclair likely had significant assets. And, although it was certainly a reasonable inference that a person employed in a significant position at a major manufacturer for decades would retain assets and a pension, there was no information in the record on that subject.

Outside the appellate record, however, there is information suggesting that Sinclair could pay the \$6,983.19 cost bill many times over.<sup>3</sup> Throughout these proceedings, Sinclair's address was: 4929 151<sup>st</sup> Avenue SE, Bellevue, Washington. Appendix B (Superform filed for probable cause / first appearance hearing). He appears to have purchased this house on August 22, 1986, for \$115,500, and the house was sold about three months ago, on October 15, 2015, for \$723,000. Appendix C.<sup>4</sup> When the property was listed for sale it was described on Redfin, a real estate marketing website, as follows:

Spacious 5 bedroom, 2.5 bath home sits high on a beautifully landscaped 22,000 sq ft lot, located in an area of \$1m+ homes. Gorgeous hardwoods in upstairs bedrooms and more waiting under LR, hall and DR carpet. Large family room plus 2 BD downstairs. 2 car garage, plus extra parking for your boat or RV off the tree lined circular drive. Enjoy the Mt. Baker view from the large wrap-a-round deck. Newport H. S., ranked #3 in the state. Lots of room inside and out.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State is compelled at this point to submit evidence of Sinclair's net worth, even though that evidence is outside the appellate record, because otherwise there will be no opportunity to illustrate the error in the court of appeals' approach to the issue and in it's decision to refuse costs. RAP 1.2 provides that the rules on appeal "will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." RAP 18.8(a) permits the appellate court to waive rules in order to serve the ends of justice. Under these unique circumstances, this Court should waive the requirements of RAP 9.1 in order to serve the ends of justice and permit a fact-based decision on the issue of whether Sinclair is able to pay appellate costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>See http://info.kingcounty.gov/Assessor/eRealProperty/Detail.aspx?ParcelNbr</u> =3459900240 (last visited 1/27/16).

Appendix D. Photographs of the house show a power boat parked in the driveway. Appendix E.<sup>5</sup> It is not known at this point whether Sinclair has sold his recreational vehicle or his truck. Nor is it known what Sinclair did with the proceeds from the sale of his home. Sinclair has not updated his financial status as required by the Rules of Appellate Procedure.<sup>6</sup>

#### D. <u>REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED</u>

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court where a decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with a decision of the court of appeals or the supreme court, raises a significant question of law under the Washington State or United States Constitutions, or deals with an issue of substantial public interest. Those criteria are met here.

This Court should grant review because the court of appeals decision conflicts with the appellate costs statute, with this Court's precedents, and with the rules on appeal, and the decision violates basic principles that ensure informed decision-making.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This document was found at: https://www.redfin.com/WA/Bellevue/4929-151st-Ave-SE-98006/home/235616 (last visited 1/27/16)). Enlargements of the photos show the boat more clearly. Appendix \_\_\_\_\_. Of course, it is not known without further inquiry whether the boat belongs to Sinclair.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RAP 15.2(f) provides: "Continued Indigency Presumed. A party and counsel for the party who has been granted an order of indigency must bring to the attention of the trial court any significant improvement during review in the financial condition of the party. The appellate court will give a party the benefits of an order of indigency throughout the review unless the trial court finds the party's financial condition has improved to the extent that the party is no longer indigent." (italics added).

First, the decision *presumes* that appellate costs should be denied in a decision terminating review based primarily on the fact that a defendant was deemed indigent for purposes of appeal. This holding effectively nullifies a duly-enacted statute that seeks to defray some costs in criminal appeals. Second, the decision conflicts with this Court's decisions interpreting that statute. <u>State v. Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997); <u>State v. Nolan</u>, 141 Wn.2d 620, 627, 8 P.3d 300 (2000). Those decisions hold that appellate costs should be ordered, that an order of indigency should not foreclose costs, and that a meaningful inquiry into ability to pay is best reserved for the trial court after the State seeks to punish a failure to pay. Third, the decision conflicts with <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 179 Wn.2d 534, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014), <u>cert. denied</u>, 135 S. Ct. 139 (2014), to the extent it treats statutory indigency as equivalent to constitutional indigency.

The decision also inverts the presumption in the rules of appellate procedure that costs are to be determined *after* decision. Further, the decision creates a process that conflicts with a process apparently followed in Division Two of the court of appeals. Finally, the decision purports to exercise discretion to deny costs, but there is no factual basis upon which discretion could be properly exercised.

#### 1. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH RCW 10.73.160 AND UNDERMINES THE PURPOSE OF THE STATUTE.

The authority to allow and recover court costs is a matter of legislative prerogative. <u>State v. Nolan</u>, 141 Wn.2d 620, 627, 8 P.3d 300 (2000). Attacks on the authority of courts to order costs on appeal have been repeatedly rejected by this Court. <u>See, Nolan</u>, 141 Wn.2d at 623. When this Court held in <u>State v. Rogers</u>, 127 Wn.2d 270, 281, 898 P.2d

294 (1995), that the State could not recoup attorneys' fees and costs

incurred by the Appellate Indigent Defense Fund without express statutory

authority, the Legislature responded swiftly by enacting a statute that

provided such authority. That statute provides as follows:

(1) The court of appeals, supreme court, and superior courts may require an adult offender convicted of an offense to pay appellate costs.

(2) Appellate costs are limited to expenses specifically incurred by the state in prosecuting or defending an appeal or collateral attack from a criminal conviction. Appellate costs shall not include expenditures to maintain and operate government agencies that must be made irrespective of specific violations of the law. Expenses incurred for producing a verbatim report of proceedings and clerk's papers may be included in costs the court may require a convicted defendant to pay.

(3) Costs, including recoupment of fees for court-appointed counsel, shall be requested in accordance with the procedures contained in Title 14 of the rules of appellate procedure and in Title 9 of the rules for appeal of decisions of courts of limited jurisdiction. An award of costs shall become part of the trial court judgment and sentence.

(4) A defendant who has been sentenced to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment may at any time petition the court that sentenced the defendant or juvenile offender for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion. If it appears to the satisfaction of the sentencing court that payment of the amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family, the sentencing court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.

RCW 10.73.160.

Numerous constitution-based challenges to the appellate costs statute were rejected in <u>State v. Blank</u>, where this Court held that an appellate court need not consider the defendant's *present* ability to pay before awarding costs, because the relevant inquiry is whether the defendant has the ability to pay when the State attempts to punish a failure to pay. 31 Wn.2d at 246-47. This Court in <u>Blank</u> explained a number of fundamental points relevant to ordering costs on appeal. It noted that the statute does not chill the right to counsel:

...the fact that an indigent who accepts state-appointed legal representation knows that he might someday be required to repay the costs of these services in no way affects his eligibility to obtain counsel.

Id. at 247 (quoting Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 53, 94 S. Ct. 2116, 40 L. Ed. 2d 642 (1974)). This Court also observed that the statute did not deprive indigents of an appeal:

RCW 10.73.160 ... does not affect Blank's right of appeal, or his right to public funds to finance it, if he is indigent. He does not have, and never did have, a right to an appeal at public expense, if he can afford to pay for that appeal. The statute simply provides a mechanism for recouping the funds advanced to ensure his right to appeal.

<u>Id.</u>, at 250. The reasoning in <u>Blank</u> struck a reasonable balance between the defendant's constitutional right to appeal and society's interest in defraying the costs created by the appeal. It achieved this balance by confirming that costs should be imposed absent compelling circumstances, while allowing for remission of costs in the trial court where indigency requires it. It also faithfully implemented the legislative directive.

The decision below fundamentally alters that balance in a way that effectively nullifies the legislative directive. The court of appeals has essentially presumed that costs should not be imposed if a criminal defendant appealed pursuant to an order of indigency, unless there is information in the record showing that he <u>can</u> pay.

Most criminal defendants appeal pursuant to an order of indigency. The language in <u>Sinclair</u> clearly presumes that the parties will be limited to the record on appeal as that term is defined in the rules. <u>Sinclair</u>, at 12 ("Both parties can be helpful to the appellate court's exercise of its discretion by developing fact-specific arguments from information that is available in the existing record."). However, in most cases the very

narrow record on appeal does not include information regarding a defendant's *present* ability to pay. This is true because in most cases a defendant's net worth is simply not an issue in the trial court, and because the appellate record is frozen in time approximately one or two years before a decision terminating review is typically filed. There will seldom be sufficient information in the stale record to overcome the newly-identified presumption from the order of indigency that a person cannot pay. This new approach thwarts the will of the legislature. Review is warranted for this reason alone.

#### 2. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH <u>STATE V.</u> <u>BLANK</u> AND <u>STATE V. NOLAN</u>.

The decision below also plainly conflicts with <u>State v. Blank</u> and <u>State v. Nolan</u>. <u>Blank</u> recognized that an order of indigency did not necessarily mean that a defendant could *never* contribute *anything* towards appellate costs. This Court's opinion expressly noted that most criminal defendants qualified for indigent status for purposes of appointment of counsel, but stressed that "common sense dictates that a determination of ability to pay and an inquiry into defendant's finances is not required before a recoupment order may be entered against an indigent defendant as it is nearly impossible to predict ability to pay over a period of ten years

or longer." 131 Wn.2d at 242. In rejecting a request to exercise its

discretion to deny costs, this Court dismissed many arguments similar to

those advanced by Sinclair:

[Appellant] reasons that given the order of indigency and his present incarceration, it is extremely unlikely he will ever be able to repay the costs the State seeks. He also says that he will undoubtedly face difficulties finding housing and steady employment, and the added pressure of a repayment obligation will impede his chances for a successful reentry into the community. He argues that the State has failed to show that sufficient funds can be recouped to justify the administrative expenditure to collect the costs, and has offered no reason to justify the imposition of costs in this case.

If in the future repayment will impose a manifest hardship on defendant, or if he is unable, through no fault of his own, to repay, the statute allows for remission of the costs award. *There is no reason at this time to deny the State's cost request based upon speculation about future circumstances*. ...[As to the effectiveness of the statute], the court's task is not to weigh the effectiveness of the statute but its constitutionality, and 'whether returns under the statute justify the expense, time, and efforts of state officials is for the ongoing supervision of the legislative branch.'

[Appellant] has failed to offer any compelling argument justifying denial of the State's costs request.

Id. at 252-53 (italics added). This Court confirmed this reasoning three

years later in Nolan, 141 Wn.2d at 634-25.

The decision in <u>Sinclair</u> upends this approach. It presumes from the fact that Sinclair (somehow) managed to qualify for appointed counsel

that he could never pay anything toward costs, despite indications in the

limited appellate record that he might have significant assets. Review should be granted to address this divergence from <u>Blank</u> and <u>Nolan</u>.

#### 3. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH <u>STATE V.</u> <u>JOHNSON</u>; IT ERASES THE DISTINCTION BETWEEN STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL INDIGENCE.

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