SUPREME COURT NO. 92796-1

RECEIVEN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	ED BY E
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	
Petitioner,	
v.	
ALAN SINCLAIR, JR.,	
Respondent.	
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY	-
The Honorable Jeffrey Ramsdell, Judge	
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW	-
KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Respondent	•
NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373	1 ?



##

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. APPELLATE COURTS PLAINLY HAVE DISCRETION OVER THE IMPOSITION OF APPELLATE COSTS, AND REVIEW IS NOT NECESSARY TO ESTABLISH THIS

The appellate courts have a choice to impose or deny appellate costs. RCW 10.73.160(1) ("The court of appeals, supreme court, and superior courts may require an adult offender convicted of an offense to pay appellate costs." (emphasis added)); RAP 14.2 (permitting the Court of Appeals to

direct that costs not be awarded in decision terminating review). Here, the Court of Appeals merely acknowledged and exercised the discretion that RCW 10.73.160 and RAP 14.2 provide. Sinclair, 2016 WL 393719, at \*4, 6-7.

The State's petition for review suggests that appellate courts should never exercise discretion. In essence, the State wants the courts to rubber stamp its cost bills, thereby perpetuating the exact same harms this court recently identified in <a href="State v. Blazina">State v. Blazina</a>, 182 Wn.2d 827, 835, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), on the typically much larger appellate monetary scale. The State's arguments against the exercise of discretion do not merit this court's review.

The State first asserts that the Court of Appeals' exercise of discretion "nullifies the legislative directive," contending that appellate costs should always be imposed "absent compelling circumstances." Petition for Review at 11. But RCW 10.73.160(1) does not state that appellate costs should always be imposed; it states that the courts "may require an adult offender convicted of an offense to pay" them. RCW 10.73.160 is not rendered a nullity by virtue of the courts exercising the precise discretion the statute gives them.

RCW 10.73.160(3) further states that such costs "shall be requested in accordance with the procedures contained in Title 14 of the rules of appellate procedure . . ." Under RAP 14.2, a commissioner or clerk awards

costs to the substantially prevailing party "unless the appellate court directs otherwise in its decision terminating review." Thus, under RAP 14.2, the decision terminating review may deny costs. In the decision terminating review at issue here, the Court of Appeals directed that costs not be imposed. Sinclair, 2016 WL 393719, at \*7. The Court of Appeals cannot at once nullify the legislative directive and follow it to a T.¹ Contrary to the State's claims, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with RCW 10.73.160. Review is not warranted on this basis.

The State also incorrectly contends that <u>Sinclair</u> is in conflict with <u>State v. Nolan</u>, 141 Wn.2d 620, 8 P.3d 300 (2000), and <u>State v. Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). Petition for Review at 12-14. In <u>Nolan</u>, this court's recognition of the discretion to award or deny appellate costs could not have been clearer:

This award is a matter of discretion for the appellate court, consistent with the appellate court's authority under RAP 14.2 to decline to award costs at all. We do not agree with the Court of Appeals that this authority to impose costs is required except in 'compelling circumstances.' The authority is permissive as the statute specifically indicates.

141 Wn.2d at 628 (emphasis added). Nolan does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' exercise of discretion; Nolan supports it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As the Court of Appeals succinctly surmised, "The statute vests the appellate court with discretion to deny or approve a request for an award of costs. Under RAP 14.2, that discretion may be exercised in a decision terminating review." <u>Sinclair</u>, 2016 WL 393719, at \*4.

The State's reliance on <u>Blank</u> to support review is also dubious. While <u>Blank</u> upheld the constitutionality of RCW 10.73.160, it did not hold that courts may not exercise discretion to avoid the problematic consequences associated with legal financial obligations. And, in light of the many concerns the <u>Blazina</u> court identified, <u>Blank</u> should not be read in a vacuum to foreclose the meaningful exercise of appellate court discretion on the issue of appellate costs.

Finally, the State repeatedly posits that courts should not exercise discretion because RCW 10.73.160(4) provides a remissions process. Petition for Review at 11-12. This process allows those against whom costs have been imposed to seek remission on the basis of manifest hardship.<sup>2</sup> RCW 10.73.160(4). That courts might exercise discretion in a future remission proceeding does not excuse them from exercising the legislative grant of discretion on whether to impose appellate costs in the first place.

The meaningful exercise of appellate court discretion is what title 14 RAP and RCW 10.73.160(1) contemplate. The Court of Appeals' decision

Although the statute allows for remission, the existence of this process is not necessarily meaningful because indigent persons seeking remission do not have the benefit of counsel. Without counsel, indigent persons might not know to move for remission in times of significant hardship and would also likely struggle to make coherent records supporting a manifest hardship determination. Moreover, Sinclair finds no authority that defines "manifest hardship" in RCW 10.73.160(4) or discusses its meaning. Because lawyers would necessarily have to litigate its meaning, the remissions process in the eyes of a pro se litigant affords an illusory remedy at best.

to exercise this discretion does not conflict with legislative directives, court rules, or decisional law. The State's arguments supporting a blanket refusal to exercise discretion before appellate costs are imposed fail to satisfy RAP 13.4(b) review criteria.

2. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT CONSIDER THE STATE'S BELATED EXTRAJUDICIAL SPECULATION REGARDING SINCLAIR'S FINANCES

If the State wished to challenge judicial findings on Sinclair's indigency, it need not have waited to do so until it received an adverse decision on appellate costs. The State does not base its arguments on any actual evidence showing that Sinclair is able or will be to pay nearly \$7,000 in appellate costs (plus interest). Instead, it attaches internet materials to its petition for review never before considered by courts or counsel in this case, asking this court to use these materials to speculate about Sinclair's financial circumstances. Because the State passed on the opportunity below to attempt to establish facts supporting its arguments, this court should pass on the State's uncorroborated assertions now.

The State never disputed Sinclair's indigency or qualification for appointed counsel in the trial court or in the Court of Appeals. The trial court made specific findings that Sinclair was "unable by reason of poverty to pay for any of the expenses of appellate review" and "cannot contribute anything toward the costs of appellate review." Sinclair, 2016 WL 393719,

at \*6 (quoting indigency order). The State had an opportunity to question these findings, especially after Sinclair objected to the cost bill and moved for reconsideration, where he argued there was no reason, based on the record, to believe he is or will be able to pay nearly \$7,000 in appellate costs.<sup>3</sup> Indeed, the Court of Appeals called for an answer to Sinclair's motion for reconsideration, providing the State with ample opportunity to dispute Sinclair's claims. While the State asserted for the first time in the answer that it was "likely" Sinclair had undisclosed retirement funds, the State did not request fact-finding on this issue or mention any other aspect of Sinclair's finances. Id, at \*7.

Only when the Court of Appeals exercised discretion to deny appellate costs did the State present materials about the value of Sinclair's former home or his alleged ownership of an RV, truck, or boat. The State did not move to make these materials part of the appellate record, as RAP 9.11 requires, and the State acknowledges as much. Petition for Review at

The State seems to suggest it should be excused from its inaction, indicating that "the Rules on Appeal do not authorize a reply to [a cost bill] objection." Petition for Review at 3 n.l. Just because the rules of appellate procedure do not expressly call for a response to a cost bill objection does not mean that such a response is not authorized. As the State points out when it asks this court to accept its belated materials, "RAP 1.2 provides that the rules on appeal 'will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate decision of cases on the merits.' RAP 18.8(a) permits the appellate court to waive rules in order to serve the ends of justice." Petition for Review at 6 n.3. These same provisions would almost certainly have allowed the State to respond to Sinclair's cost bill objection if it truly wished.

6-7 & n.3. This court should not permit the State to gamble on a favorable ruling and then present additional materials to support its position after it receives an adverse one. The State could have presented the same materials and made the same assertions about them in the Court of Appeals but chose not to. The State's extrajudicial submissions regarding Sinclair's finances come too late, and this court should not consider them.

3. IF THIS COURT GRANTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD ADDRESS THE EFFICACY OF DIVISION TWO'S APPROACH TO APPELLATE COSTS

As the State acknowledges, Division Two remands cases to the superior courts to conduct fact-finding on an indigent person's ability to pay before appellate costs are imposed. Petition for Review at 17; see also Sinclair, 2016 WL 393719, at \*4-5 (discussing and rejecting Division Two's approach). Under Division Two's procedure, before imposing appellate costs, the parties have an opportunity to litigate ability to pay in the courts that are best equipped for fact-finding, the trial courts. This approach would enable the State to submit the very materials and arguments it submits here in an actual forum designed to receive such evidence.

Though it notes the conflict <u>Sinclair</u> creates between Division One and Division Two, Petition for Review at 17, the State fails to appreciate that Division Two's procedure would eviscerate its arguments about being deprived of a fair opportunity to litigate the factual issues inherent in the

award of appellate costs. Under Division Two's approach, the State's various concerns about the lack of fact-finding all but evaporate. Thus, if this court grants review, it should consider whether Division Two's procedure is preferable, particularly in cases where there appear to be significant factual disputes.

Ultimately, Divisions One and Two are of like mind in recognizing their discretion to deny appellate costs and choosing to do so in appropriate cases. The only "conflict" between the divisions is the best method for seeing that indigent litigants are not unduly burdened by these costs.

4. IF THIS COURT GRANTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD ADDRESS HOW THE CURRENT APPELLATE COST SCHEME CREATES A PERVERSE CONFLICT OF INTEREST THAT UNDERMINES THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP

The Washington courts inform every indigent appellant of his or her right to appeal at public expense. This case is no exception: the trial court determined Sinclair could not "by reason of poverty" "contribute anything toward the costs of appellate review." Sinclair, 2016 WL 393719, at \*6-7 (quoting indigency order). Any reasonable person reading this order would believe that Sinclair was entitled to an attorney to represent him on appeal at public expense and that Sinclair would pay nothing due to his indigency, win or lose. Under the current appellate cost scheme, however, this reasonable belief is incorrect and trial court indigency orders are falsehoods.

Because the courts do not do so, appellate defenders must explain to their indigent clients that if their arguments do not prevail, their clients will be assessed, at minimum, thousands of dollars in appellate costs. Unlike other lawyers whose clients pay them, the client's ability to pay does not factor into an appellate defender's representation of his or her client. Yet appellate defenders must still play the role of financial planner, hedging the strength of their arguments against the vast sums of money their clients will owe and attempting to advise their clients accordingly. This undermines the appellate defender's important role in advancing all issues of arguable merit on clients' behalf and thereby undermines the relationship between attorney and client.

This relationship is further undermined when clients see that the Office of Public Defense is the primary beneficiary—to the tune of thousands of dollars—of their unsuccessful arguments.<sup>4</sup> This creates a perverse incentive: the Office of Public Defense, which pays the salaries of all appellate defenders and through which all appellate defenders represent their clients, collects money only when the appellate defender is unsuccessful. This is readily apparent as a conflict of interest and undermines any appearance that the appellate cost scheme is fair. See RPC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The cost bill filed in this case would apportion 99.1 percent of the \$6,983.19 in appellate costs to the Office of Public Defense. <u>See</u> Cost Bill at 2.

1.7(a)(2) (a conflict exists where "there is a significant risk that the representation . . . will be materially limited . . . by a personal interest of the lawyer"); Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 268-70, 101 S. Ct. 1097, 67 L. Ed. 2d 220 (1981) (acknowledging conflict when interest of third party paying lawyer is at odds with client's interest); Winkler v. Keane, 7 F.3d 304, 308 (2d Cir. 1993) (contingent fee in criminal case created actual conflict of interest); United States v. Horton, 845 F.2d 1414, 1419 (7th Cir. 1988) (conflict of interest arises when defense attorney must "make a choice advancing his own interest to the detriment of his client's interests").

The current appellate cost system works as a contingent fee arrangement in reverse: rather than pay their attorneys upon winning their cases, indigent clients must pay the organization that funds their attorneys when they lose. In any other context, this court would readily recognize the ethical problems of such a Kafkaesque design. If this court grants review, it should address this issue, which implicates both the constitutional right to conflict-free counsel and, given its impact on the entire statewide system of indigent appeals, pertains to an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court. RAP 13.4(b)(3)–(4).

5. IF THIS COURT GRANTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD CONSIDER WHETHER THE IMPOSITION OF APPELLATE COSTS WITHOUT CONSIDERING ABILITY TO PAY VIOLATES SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS

No person may be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. "Substantive due process protects against arbitrary and capricious government action even when the decision to take action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 216, 143 P.3d 571 (2006). Deprivations of property must be substantively reasonable and are constitutionally infirm if not "supported by some legitimate justification." Nielsen v. Dep't of Licensing, 177 Wn. App. 45, 52-53, 309 P.3d 1221 (2013).

Where a fundamental liberty interest is not at stake, as here, courts review substantive due process claims for rational basis. <u>Id.</u> at 53-54. To survive rational basis scrutiny, the provisions in question must be rationally related to a legitimate state interest. Id.

Sinclair does not quarrel with the proposition that funding the Office of Public Defense is a legitimate state interest. But attempting to fund it on the backs of indigent persons when their public defenders lose their appeals, without first ascertaining their ability to pay, does not rationally serve this interest. This court recently recognized that "the state cannot collect money

from defendants who cannot pay." <u>Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d at 837. It is simply irrational to mandate that appellate courts impose appellate costs upon indigent litigants without even inquiring into whether they have the ability or likely future ability to pay them.

For this precise reason, the legislature directed the courts to exercise discretion in RCW 10.73.160(1). No rational legislation would expressly grant discretion to courts that fail or refuse to exercise it. If this court grants review, it should consider whether an ability-to-pay determination is necessary before imposing appellate costs in order to comport with the due process clauses. This issue presents a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

6. IF IT GRANTS REVIEW, THIS COURT SHOULD INVITE THE REAL PARTY IN INTEREST—THE OFFICE OF PUBLIC DEFENSE—TO WEIGH IN

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